Understanding the Needs of Children:

A study of needs and their determinants in Limerick and Thurles





Understanding the Needs of Children: A study of needs and their determinants in Limerick and Thurles

Executive Summary

Kieran McKeown & Trutz Haase

Kieran McKeown Limited Social & Economic Research Consultants 16 Hollybank Road Drumcondra Dublin 9 Ireland

Phone 01-8309506

E-mail: <u>kmckeown@iol.ie</u>

© Barnardos 2007

Table of Contents

Ackn	owledgements	iv	
1.	Purpose of the Study	5	
2.	Approach to Measuring Need	5	
3.	Questionnaire to Measure the Needs of Children and Parents	5	
4.	Sample of Limerick City	6	
5.	Sample of Barnardos' Service Users in Limerick and Thurles	7	
6.	Data Analysis	7	
7.	Characteristics of Households with Children in Limerick City	8	
8.	Needs of Children in Limerick City	9	
8.1	Influences on children's mental health difficulties	11	
8.2	Influences on children's reading difficulties	11	
9.	Needs of Mothers in Limerick City	12	
9.1	Influences on maternal depression	13	
9.2	Influences on discipline practices	14	
10.	Needs of Children in Barnardos' Services	14	
11.	Needs of Mothers in Barnardos' Services	15	
12.	Implications	15	
12.1	Recognising the systemic nature of family difficulties	16	
12.2	Responding to children's mental health difficulties	18	
12.3	Responding to children's reading difficulties	18	
12.4	Responding to maternal depression	19	
12.5	Responding to excessive use of discipline	19	
12.6	Monitoring the effectiveness of services	19	
13.	Concluding Comment	20	
Refe	References		

Acknowledgements

This report was commissioned by Barnardos in March 2007.

We gratefully acknowledge the work of Claire Hickey, Senior Research Manager in Barnardos, for her support at every stage of the study.

Sean Redmond, former Assistant Director of Children's Services in the South for Barnardos, made a number of helpful suggestions at the beginning of the study for which we are extremely grateful.

The project leaders and staff at Barnardos' services in Limerick: Southhill, Moyross and Islandgate, and Thurles expedited the survey for which we are most appreciative. Particular thanks are due to the staff who acted as contact persons for the study: Nicola McMahon in Southill, Maura McDonnell in Moyross, Laura Keane in Islandgate, and Anne Devereux in Thurles.

The survey work for the study was undertaken by QuotaSearch Ireland during April and May 2007. Under the direction of Noeline Murray, the fieldwork was undertaken with great sensitivity and meticulous attention to detail for which we are most grateful.

The support of HSE-West, including Kevin O'Farrell, Chris Sheridan, Bill Meagher, Fionnuala Kenny and Kerstin Murray is gratefully acknowledged. We also acknowledge the financial support from HSE-West which made the study possible.

Finally, we would like to thank the mothers who completed our questionnaires. This report is about them and their children and our hope is that it will assist in developing services which meet their needs.

As with all studies, it is important to emphasise that responsibility for the report rests entirely with the authors.

November 2007

1. Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study was set out in January 2007 in the invitation to tender: "The purpose of the needs analysis is to explore the range of needs that three groups of children present with:

- A representative sample of children living in Limerick city
- Children receiving Barnardos' services in Limerick city during the reference period of the study
- A sample of children receiving Barnardos' services in Thurles during the reference period of the study"

The study was commissioned in March 2007. Fieldwork and data collection was carried out in May, followed by data analysis and write-up in June, and submission of the report in July 2007. This report is a summary of the key findings from this survey.

2. Approach to Measuring Need

In order to carry out a study of need, it is necessary to begin with a clear definition of need. Children are said to be in need when their well-being is below a threshold that is regarded as either normal or minimal. Need is a multi-dimensional concept covering all aspects of the child's well-being including: physical, psychological, relationship with parents and peers, school attendance and performance, out-of-school activities, etc. Children's well-being is also heavily dependent on the well-being of their parents. For this reason a proper understanding of children's needs must take into account the well-being of their parents: physical, psychological, relationship with partner, social supports, etc. In addition, since children's needs are influenced by the socio-economic status of their household and the broader physical environment, it is necessary to measure household income, employment and education as well as neighbourhood perceptions. It is this understanding which informs our approach to assessing the needs of children in Limerick and Thurles.

3. Questionnaire to Measure the Needs of Children and Parents

The questionnaire draws together a range of instruments which have been tried and tested internationally. The key instrument used to measure the mental health of children is the

Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ). For mothers we measured different aspects of mental health including depression, positive and negative affect, life satisfaction, and hope, as well as the parent-child relationship¹ (using the Parent-Child Relationship Inventory or the PCRI) and the mother's discipline practices (using the conflict tactics scale for parent and child or the CTS-PC²). These instruments have been used in a national study of family well-being in Ireland³. Some have also been used in the evaluation of Springboard projects in Ireland⁴ and in the assessment of the mental health needs of children in Ballymun⁵ other parts of Dublin⁶, and Ireland⁷. As such, they provide useful benchmarks against which to measure the well-being of children and their mothers in Limerick city and Thurles. Similarly, demographic and socio-economic data were collected using questions which allow for comparison with national datasets such as the Census of Population, Quarterly National Household Survey, the Living in Ireland Survey, etc. Full details of the instruments used in the questionnaire are available in a technical appendix.

4. Sample of Limerick City

The study is based on a sample of 201 households-with-children in Limerick city. We estimate that the sampling error associated with this sample size, at the 95 per cent level of probability, is in the 4-7 range for each statistic generated from this sample. We used a stratified random sample by selecting a representative sample of 50 households-with-children in each of the city's four sectors, north, south, east and west, yielding a total sample of 201 households-with-children⁸. Given that the sample comprises an equal number of households (50) from each of the four quadrants, we re-weighted the data in each quadrant to reflect its

....study is based on a sample of 201 households-withchildren in Limerick city...we used a stratified random sample....re-weighted to reflect its true population share....

true population share in Limerick city, based on the 2002 Census of Population. In addition, we re-weighted the proportion of two-parent and one-parent households within each of the

- 2 Strauss, Hamby, Finkelhor and Runyan, 1995
- 3 McKeown, Pratschke and Haase, 2003
- 4 See McKeown, Haase and Pratschke, 2001; 2004a; 2004b
- 5 See McKeown and Haase, 2006
- 6 McKeown and Fitzgerald, 2007; McKeown and Fitzgerald, 2007a
- 7 McKeown and Fitzgerald, 2006b
- 8 In the north sector, 51 households-with-children were interviewed

¹ Gerard, 1994

four quadrants to represent their known distribution of these households in Limerick city, based on the 2002 Census of Population.

5. Sample of Barnardos' Service Users in Limerick and Thurles

A sample was drawn of 42 mothers and their children who use Barnardos' services in Limerick and Thurles. More than half of these (24, 57 per cent) were from Barnardos' services in Limerick, 10 from Southill, 10 from Moyross, and 4 from Islandgate, with the remainder (18, 43 per cent) from the Barnardos service in Thurles. It is estimated that, at any one time, Barnardos' services in Limerick work with 80 children and families while the service in Thurles works with approximately 60 families. Due to difficulties in recruiting respondents, the effect of which was to reduce the sample's randomness, we cannot be sure that the resulting profile of children and mothers is truly representative of those who use Barnardos' services. Nevertheless it still provides a valuable insight into the range of needs presented by mothers and their children.

6. Data Analysis

The analysis involved preparing frequencies and cross-tabulations and the full results of these are presented in a technical appendix. In addition, we use correlation analysis⁹ and regression analysis¹⁰ to test the level of association between the needs of children (in the areas of mental health and reading) and mothers (in the areas of depression and parenting); the dependent variables, sometimes referred to as outcome variables; and a range of individual, family, and socio-economic factors (the independent variables, sometimes

⁹ Correlation analysis measures the extent to which two variables, one designated as dependent the other as independent, are associated. The correlation coefficient is the percent of variance in the dependent variable that is explained by the independent variable when all other independent variables are allowed to vary. The magnitude of the correlation coefficient reflects not only the unique covariance it shares with the dependent variable, but uncontrolled effects on the dependent variable attributable to covariance which the independent variable shares with other independent variables. This makes correlation analysis more limited than regression analysis.
10 Regression analysis is a method of explaining variability in a dependent variable using information about one or more independent variable; it is referred to as multiple regression analysis because there is more than one independent variable. The regression coefficient is the average amount the dependent variable increases when the independent variables makes it a significantly more powerful statistical technique than correlation analysis. In logistic regression, the dependent variable is binary or dichotomous and is used, in this context, to assess the likelihood of a child being, or not being, in the abnormal range of the SDQ. The results of logistic regression are expressed in terms of the odds ratio where 1.0 means there is no relationship, less than 1.0 indicates an inverse or negative relationship, and greater than 1.0 indicates a direct or positive relationship.

referred to as predictors, determinants, or explanatory variables). It should be pointed out that the existence of a statistical association does not necessarily imply causation, since our data is cross-sectional rather than longitudinal, but it may nevertheless be helpful, if taken in conjunction with findings from other research on the determinants of well-being among children and mothers, in suggesting possible interpretations of those associations as well as possible strategies for addressing those needs.

7. Characteristics of Households with Children in Limerick City

The survey shows that households with children in Limerick city are broadly similar to households with children in Ireland in terms of size, education, employment, and financial strain. The fact that Limerick city is known to be somewhat more disadvantaged than Ireland and the surrounding mid-west region, based on the analysis of Small Area Population Statistics (SAPS), is consistent with our finding that the level of owner occupation in Limerick city (52 per cent) is significantly lower than in Ireland (74 per cent). Similarly, given that lone parenthood is strongly associated with socio-economic disadvantage, as both cause and consequence¹¹, and is also more heavily concentrated in large urban areas¹², we found that a third of households with children in Limerick city are lone parent households compared to a fifth in Ireland.

Throughout the analysis, we distinguish between households with a medical card and those without in order examine the effects of socio-economic disadvantage on the different variables. Our survey found that half the sample, and therefore half the population of mothers in Limerick city, have a medical card, significantly higher than in Ireland (28 per cent), based on 2004 data. The significance of using the medical card is that it is a reliable predictor of socio-economic status and, unlike We distinguish between households with a medical card and those without in order to examine the effects of socioeconomic disadvantage..... entitlement to a medical card is a very effective way of identifying households where there may be significant material deprivation

many other means-tested benefits, has no stigma attached to it. As a result, our data on the prevalence of medical cards in Limerick city is likely to be highly reliable. In addition, the possibility that the medical card may offer a practical way of identifying children and families

¹¹ See McLanahan, Donahue and Haskins, 2005

¹² See McKeown, Pratschke and Haase, 2003

who have particular needs provides an important policy rationale for using this variable throughout the report¹³.

Consistent with this, our analysis revealed that the most significant variation between households with children in Limerick city is whether they have a medical card. Medical card holders are five times more likely to live in rented accommodation, mainly from the local authority, are more likely to have left school early and to have fewer qualifications; they are also less likely to be in work and are more likely to experience financial strain. This suggests that entitlement to a medical card is a very effective way of identifying households where there may be significant material deprivation. Given that half of all households in Limerick city have a medical card, compared to less than a third in Ireland, this suggests a high prevalence of material deprivation among families with children in Limerick city.

8. Needs of Children in Limerick City

We measured the mental health of children using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaires (SDQ)¹⁴ and, as table 1 reveals, we found that 8 per cent of children are in the abnormal range and a further 9 per cent are in the borderline range. This is broadly in line with other population-based studies of children's mental health in Ireland¹⁵ and elsewhere¹⁶.

The main difficulties involve conduct, hyperactivity and emotional problems. Boys present more difficulties than girls, and older children present more difficulties than younger children. As a result, older boys are the most vulnerable group with 17 per cent in the abnormal range.

¹³ The fact that the medical card is widely regarded as an entitlement that is socially acceptable, and therefore non-stigmatising, is a further advantage of using this method for targeting

¹⁴ The SDQ is a validated and reliable instrument for assessing behaviours, emotions and relationships, and was created by Robert Goodman during the 1990s for the purpose of screening children who may have mental health or psychiatric needs. It is therefore a useful proxy measure of psychological well-being. It is suitable for 3-16 year olds and can be completed by the child (if over 11 years), the parent (for children aged 3+), and the teacher (for children aged 3+). Available at www.sdqinfo.com and see Goodman, 1997; Goodman, Meltzer and Bailey, 1998; Goodman and Scott, 1999; Goodman, 1999; and Goodman, Renfrew and Mullick, 2000 15 Fitzgerald and Jeffers, 1994; O'Connor, Ruddle and O'Gallagher, 1988; McCarthy and O'Boyle, 1986; Porteus, 1991; O'Rourke and Fitzgerald, 1985; Lynch, Fitzgerald and Kinsella, 1987; Barton and Fitzgerald, 1986; Stone, Fitzgerald and Kinsella, 1990; Mohan, Fitzgerald and Collins, 1998; Martin, Carr, Carroll and Byrne, 2005 16 Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, and Ford, 2000; Simpson, Bloom, Cohen, Blumberg and Bourdon, 2005

Type of Difficulty	Normal %	Borderline %	Abnormal %	Total %
Conduct problems	76.6	9.3	14.1	100
Hyperactivity	78.6	6.8	14.6	100
Emotional problems	82.1	6.7	11.2	100
Peer problems	84.8	7.9	7.3	100
Pro-social behaviour	90.9	5.5	3.6	100
Total difficulties	83.0	8.8	8.3	100
Total families (N)	2,575	272	257	3,104
Estimated number of children aged 0-18	11,371	1,206	1,137	13,700

Table 1Percent of Children in Normal, Borderline and AbnormalRanges of the SDQ in Limerick City

The proportion of children in the abnormal range is ten times higher among families with a medical card (15 per cent) compared to families without (1.5 per cent). Extrapolating these results to all children (0-18 years) in Limerick city, we estimate that 1,137 children are in the abnormal range and a further 1,206 are in the borderline range.

The level of need is higher among boys, among older children, and in households with a medical card. This is similar to other studies in Ireland, the UK and US. Substantial interventions will be needed to bring children who are in the borderline and abnormal ranges to within the normal range and will need to have an impact which is greater than the scale of improvement that is usually produced by programmes for children and families.

The survey also found that 19 per cent of children in Limerick city are perceived by their mother to have at least one disability. This is similar to the prevalence of disabilities (18 per cent) estimated by the National Council for Special Education in 2006.

Children in Limerick city have similar reading ability to children in Ireland but a small proportion of children (13 per cent), all in households where the mother has a medical card, have reading difficulties. Educational resources in the home, (as measured by the number of books, being read to before school age, access to a computer and the internet, and expectations of leaving school) tend to be better for children in Limerick city than Ireland. Similarly, school attendance rates seem to be higher in Limerick city than Ireland although it should be remembered that this is based on the reports of mothers rather than schools, the latter being the normal source of school attendance statistics produced by the National Educational Welfare Board. At the same time it is noteworthy that a substantial proportion of post-primary pupils in Limerick city (14 per cent), particularly girls, are missing school for 20 days or more; this is equivalent to 1,234 children.

A significant finding to emerge from the survey is that children in need are most likely to be found in households with a medical card, confirming the well-known social gradient between level of need and socio-economic status. This finding provides one of the keys to the challenge of targeting households where children may be in need.

8.1 Influences on children's mental health difficulties

The study used correlation and regression analysis to establish the determinants of mental health difficulties among children, as indicated by SDQ scores in the abnormal range. This revealed that children with mental health difficulties are to be found in households where mothers have a medical card, take sedatives, tranquilisers or anti-depressants, and have an

above-average level of negative affect. Having a medical card is the strongest predictor of mental health difficulties and the 'odds ratio', which measures the strength of association, indicates that a child living in a household with a medical card is 17.3 times more likely to be in the abnormal range of the SDQ compared to a household without a

Having a medical card is the strongest predictor of mental health difficulties....

medical card. Similarly, children whose mothers take sedatives, tranquilisers or antidepressants are 4.9 times more likely to be in the abnormal range of the SDQ compared to children whose mothers do not. Finally, children whose mothers have a higher negative affect than average, as indicated by more frequent experiences of negative feelings such as distressed, upset, scared, hostile, irritable, ashamed, nervous, jittery and afraid, are slightly more likely to be in the abnormal range of the SDQ compared to other children.

We carried out further correlation analysis into the variables associated with each of these determinants. This revealed that, when the selection effect of the medical card is taken into account, the primary influence on the mental health of children is the mental health of mothers. Mothers with poor mental health, as indicated by lower life satisfaction and hope, depression and using sedatives, tranquilisers and anti-depressants, are significantly more likely to have a child whose SDQ scores are in the abnormal range. These difficulties are augmented by socio-economic disadvantage which makes it more difficult for the mother to cope financially and add to the likelihood of a child being in the abnormal range of the SDQ. In addition, mothers who have a weak relationship with the child and who use excessive discipline are more likely to have a child in the abnormal range of the SDQ.

8.2 Influences on children's reading difficulties

Following regression analysis, we found that children with reading difficulties are to be found in households where the mother is a lone parent and has not read frequently to the child before primary school. Having a mother who is a lone parent is the strongest predictor and children in lone parent households are five times more likely to have reading difficulties compared to children in two-parent families. Similarly, children who are not read to frequently before primary school are twice as likely to have reading difficulties compared to other children. We carried out further correlation analysis into the variables associated with these two determinants and this revealed the predominant influence of socio-economic circumstances as indicated by having a medical card and living in local authority accommodation. This suggests that children develop reading difficulties because they are not read to before primary school and this is more likely to happen in lone parent households, possibly because the mother has little interest or aptitude for reading to the child.

Having a mother who is a lone parent is the strongest predictorsimilarly children who are not read to frequently before primary school are twice as likely to have reading difficulties compared to other children

9. Needs of Mothers in Limerick City

Mothers in Limerick city who have a medical card have significantly greater needs compared to mothers without a medical card. This applies to most of the scales used but is particularly pronounced in some key domains. For example, up to a quarter of mothers with a medical card show clinical signs of depression, more than three times the rate among mothers without a medical card. Possibly as a consequence of this, a fifth of medical card mothers are on sedatives, tranquilisers and anti-depressants, which is five times higher than the national average. Similarly, more than a third of mothers with a medical card show signs of lacking hope and have difficulty finding either 'the will or the way' to address the challenges which they face. Mothers with a medical card are also significantly less positive in how they perceive their own health, and their smoking rate (68 per cent) is twice the national average.

On the positive side, all mothers in Limerick city, irrespective of medical card, have strong support networks, which is higher than the average for Irish mothers generally. Similarly, more than eight out of ten mothers have done and received a favour for a neighbour in the last six months, and believe that neighbours look out for each other. This indicates a higher level of neighbourliness compared to data from the UK where this instrument was also used. Both groups of mothers also give broadly similar rating to the services which they use. However a significant difference is that mothers with a medical card are twice as likely to experience serious neighbourhood problems compared to mothers without a medical card, a finding which is consistent with the well-documented problems in some local authority housing estates in Limerick city¹⁷.

17 Fitzgerald, 2007:6

In the area of parenting, the differences between mothers who have and have not got a medical card are less pronounced and are broadly similar to the scores of mothers in Ireland on the overall parent-child relationship. The one area of difference is that mothers in Limerick city who have a medical card tend to use significantly more discipline on their children, particularly non-violent discipline and psychological aggression, compared to mothers without a medical card, and compared to mothers in Ireland generally. This, in turn, may be the reason why mothers with a medical card are somewhat less effective at setting limits for their children. Mothers with medical cards are also less effective at resolving arguments with their current or former partners but those who are not living with a partner are much less effective compared to those living with a partner.

These findings indicate that having a medical card is a strong predictor of needs in a wide range of domains including depression and usage of anti-depressants, lacking in hope, smoking, difficulties in parenting and other relationships, and the experience of neighbourhood problems.

9.1 Influences on maternal depression

The results of regression analysis identified four predictors of maternal depression:

- Taking sedatives, tranquilisers or anti-depressants
- Having a medical card
- Having above-average negative affect
- Being low in hopefulness

The use of sedatives, tranquilisers or anti-depressants is the strongest predictor and these mothers are three times more likely (3.3) to be depressed compared to mothers who do not take sedatives, tranquilisers or anti-depressants. Similarly, mothers with a medical card are three times more likely (3.0) to be depressed compared to mothers without a medical card. Mothers who have a higher-than-average negative affect, as indicated by more frequent experiences of negative feelings such as being distressed, upset, scared, hostile, irritable, ashamed, nervous, jittery and afraid, are slightly more likely (1.2) to be depressed. Finally, mothers who lack hope are also slightly more likely (0.95) to be depressed compared to mothers who are hopeful.

Further correlation analysis of the factors which influence depression indicates that it is most strongly associated with other mental states of the mother, and a tendency towards negative thoughts, emotions and behaviours which present themselves in the form of negative affect, reduced life satisfaction, hopelessness, difficulties coping financially, and a poor relationship with the child. These difficulties are augmented by the consequences of socio-economic disadvantage which make it more difficult for these mothers to cope financially. Having a child who also has mental health difficulties further amplifies these difficulties but is not their main source.

9.2 Influences on discipline practices

The results of the regression analysis revealed that the three predictors of discipline practices are:

- Mother's negative affect
- Child in the abnormal range of the SDQ
- The parent-child relationship

Negative affect is the strongest predictor of discipline style and nearly twice as strong as the

influence of having a child in the abnormal range of the SDQ, or the influence of the parent-child relationship. This is a significant finding because it indicates that the frequency and intensity of disciplining the child is related more to the mother's negative feelings than to the child's specific behaviours, or indeed the mother's relationship with the child. At the same time, the fact of having a child in the abnormal range of the SDQ has an independent influence on the mother's discipline practices and suggests that these

....the frequency and intensity of disciplining the child is related more to the mother's negative feelings than to the child's specific behaviours...

children may be more difficult to manage because of problems with behaviour, emotions or hyperactivity. Therefore, in order to manage these children, mothers tend to increase the frequency and intensity of discipline, often with negative consequences for both mother and child. It is also significant that the quality of relationship between mother and child moderates the discipline style such that mothers who communicate and are more involved with the child are less likely to use excessive discipline.

Further correlation analysis of the factors associated with discipline practices underlines the predominant influence of the mother's mental health as indicated by depression, negative affect, use of sedatives, tranquillisers and anti-depressants, as well as low levels of life satisfaction and hopefulness. The mother's capacity to cope financially is also an influence and reflects how socio-economic disadvantage creates stresses and strains which result in the excessive use of discipline. In other words, excessive discipline is primarily driven by the mother's mental health, with subsidiary influences exercised by her relationship with the child and whether the child is in the abnormal range of the SDQ.

10. Needs of Children in Barnardos' Services

The survey of children using Barnardos' services found that the level of need among those in the Limerick services is considerably higher than in the Thurles service. Notwithstanding this, it is clear from the study that both services are targeting substantial numbers of children in significant need, particularly in the areas of mental health and cognitive development.

More than four in ten children from both services combined are in the abnormal range of the SDQ, particularly in the areas of conduct problems and hyperactivity. The prevalence of these difficulties is more than twice as high in Limerick as in Thurles but the depth of need, as measured in terms of effect sizes, is greater in Thurles (2.43) than in Limerick (2.30). Mothers, particularly those attending the Limerick services, perceive their children's health to be much poorer compared to mothers in Limerick city and Ireland. Consistent with this, there is also a very high prevalence of disabilities, 66 per cent in Limerick and 44 per cent in Thurles, which is a multiple of the estimated national average of 18 per cent. The reading ability of children in the Limerick services is well below the national norm where there are much fewer educational resources in the home such as books, being read to before school age, access to a computer and the internet, and expectations of leaving school. Children in both services also have poorer school attendance rates compared to children in primary school generally.

11. Needs of Mothers in Barnardos' Services

Mothers using Barnardos services, particularly those in Limerick, have substantial needs in a wide range of domains. They experience much more negative emotions and fewer positive emotions compared to mothers in Limerick city or Ireland. Many show signs of depression and lack of hopefulness while their self-rated health is substantially below the norm for Limerick city and Ireland. Many are smokers and use sedatives, tranquilisers and anti-depressants. There are vulnerabilities in the parent-child relationship which are indicated by feeling dissatisfied with their performance as parents, and an inability to set appropriate limits for the child. Related to this, possibly as both cause and consequence, these mothers use nearly three times more discipline on their children compared to the norm in Limerick city and Ireland. Outside the immediate family context, most mothers have weaker support networks compared to mothers in Limerick city and Ireland and there is less trust and reciprocity in dealing with neighbours, possibly because of specific difficulties in the areas where Barnardos' services are located. In addition, there are serious neighbourhood problems and many of the local services are rated as poor or very poor.

12. Implications

This study has produced an understanding of the prevalence and determinants of needs among children and their mothers. As such, it can offer insights into how services might respond to those needs. In this final section, we draw out the implications for services in more detail.

12.1 Recognising the systemic nature of family difficulties

It is important to emphasise that the factors which influence the needs of children and mothers, whether inside or outside the family, do not operate in isolation from each other because it is their interaction effect which creates the susceptibility to need. Many children and mothers score high on some of the risk factors associated with each type of need, but only those who score high on all of them experience a level of need which is measurably greater than the average child or mother. In other words, these factors operate simultaneously rather than sequentially, which means that each acts as cause as well as consequence because they are linked bi-directionally rather uni-directionally. This understanding suggests that problems, whether mental health and reading difficulties among children, or depression and excessive use of discipline among mothers, might be seen as part of a negative self-reinforcing cycle. A key implication of this is that interventions should endeavour to spread their benefits to as many domains as possible in order to create self-sustaining cycles of well-being.

In drawing attention to the systemic nature of family life, it is also important to emphasise that while mothers influence the well-being of children, and children influence the well-being

of mothers, it is the characteristics of mothers which are the predominant influence on the well-being of both. For example, we know that children's mental health and reading difficulties are influenced by the characteristics of the mother, based on the data we have available in this study. We also know that children who have mental health difficulties, particularly in the form of behaviour problems and hyperactivity, contribute directly or indirectly to the mother's depression and excessive use of discipline, but these influences are much less than those exercised by the mother's negative mental states. These findings clearly support the notion of the family as a system but also

....while mothers influence the well-being of children, and children influence the well-being of mothers, it is the characteristics of mothers which are the predominant influence on the wellbeing of both

highlight how the flows of influence within the system are predominantly from mother to child rather from child to mother.

Our analysis also confirms that the needs of children and their mothers are shaped not just by the family system but also by the socio-economic context in which the family is situated. This is illustrated by the uneven distribution of family needs between those with and without a medical card. However, the relationship between family needs and socio-economic context is not a simple one because, although socio-economic disadvantage makes it more difficult for some families to cope financially, the majority of mothers and children on a medical card do not have needs as we have defined them^{18.} This suggests that the influence of socio-economic context on family needs is bi-directional in that: (i) families with difficulties are more likely to experience socio-economic disadvantage by virtue of those difficulties (a selection effect), while (ii) those living in adverse socio-economic circumstances are more likely to succumb to family difficulties (a causal effect).

It is not possible to definitively separate these two effects using the cross-sectional data we

have here, although our analysis clearly suggests that having a medical card is more strongly associated with having family difficulties (a selection effect) than with having problems coping financially (a causal effect). The fact that neighbourhood problems are not associated with family problems also suggests a selection effect. In other words, the family system provides an important buffer zone between mother and child on the one hand, and the wider socio-economic environment on the other¹⁹. The practical implication of this is that direct

...the family system provides an important buffer zone between mother and child on the one hand, and the wider socio-economic environment on the other.

interventions within the family to reduce the problems we have identified such as mental health and reading difficulties among children, depression and excessive use of discipline among mothers, are likely to be more effective than interventions to reduce socio-economic disadvantage, although both forms of intervention are likely to be more effective than either taken in isolation²⁰.

18 Another illustration of this is a study of poor children attending Head Start centres in Seattle, USA which found that two-thirds did not have behaviour problems because they were buffered from the effects of poverty through positive and effective parenting, whereas the one-third who exhibited aggressive behaviours had mothers with histories of abuse or psychiatric illness which rendered them "more vulnerable to the stresses of poverty, a vulnerability that becomes expressed in disrupted parenting behaviour. This disruption involves hostile exchanges with children, inconsistent discipline and a negative reinforcement mechanism which contributes to the development of child conduct problems and poor social competence" (Webster-Stratton and Hammond, 1998:120) 19 This is similar to the bio-ecological model of Bronfenbrenner (1979; 2001) which sees the child's development as the outcome of influences within the family, school

and local community as well as government policies and societal attitudes.

20 This analysis is consistent with a recent review of the literature on child outcomes generally which observed that socio-economic indicators "have relatively limited utility as guides for designing effective interventions because they tell us relatively little about the causal mechanisms that explain their impacts on child development. Thus, researchers and service providers are focusing increasingly on the importance of within-group variability and individual differences among children and families" (Shonkoff and Phillips, 2000:354)

The implications of this for services are quite challenging not just because there are limits to the capacity of what one agency can do, and it is unlikely that any one agency can fully address all of the factors simultaneously, but also because there are limits to the effectiveness of programmes in addressing each of the domains of need. In determining the implications for services therefore, it may be necessary to establish priorities as to the form of intervention that is most likely to be effective in reversing these self-reinforcing cycles. In addition to direct therapeutic work with mothers and children, both individually and in groups, which would draw on the acknowledged strengths of Barnardos' services, this needs to be supported by measures to improve the socio-economic context of the household and community, drawing on the resources and skills of other agencies which have responsibilities in this area.

12.2 Responding to children's mental health difficulties

Beginning with children whose SDQ scores are in the abnormal range, of which there are over 1,000 in Limerick city according to our estimates, it is clear that these children need to be assessed and treated as soon as possible. Given that the primary influence on the mental health of these children is the mental health of mothers, our findings also point to the need for direct interventions with these mothers. In addition to treatment, our analysis also suggests that prevention and early intervention services should focus on improving the mental health of mothers, including reducing the stress associated with financial difficulties, if the objective is to improve the mental health of children. If possible, this strategy should be supplemented by interventions which focus specifically on parenting skills, particularly the skill of setting appropriate limits on children without using excessive discipline. Interventions in the areas of mental health and parenting are likely to mutually reinforce each other since one of the key predictors of parenting skills is the mental health of the mother.

12.3 Responding to children's reading difficulties

Encouraging and supporting mothers to read to their child before going to primary school is the most effective way of preventing reading difficulties emerging in the first place. The analysis also suggests, however, that this may not be easy due to the strong influence of socio-economic circumstances such as being a lone parent, having a medical card, and living in local authority accommodation. Naturally, these circumstances are not incompatible with reading to a child before going to primary school but suggest that there may be no tradition of reading to children in some of these households. However, this could change through the use of imaginative schemes and incentives which support and reward mothers and children for reading.

12.4 Responding to maternal depression

The analysis suggests that the main focus of interventions to address maternal depression should be on the mother and her tendency towards negative thoughts, emotions and behaviours. A growing body of research in positive psychology suggests that this will involve supporting mothers to think and feel differently about their past, their present and their future²¹. In addition, advice and assistance to help mothers improve their capacity to cope financially would reduce some of the stresses and strains that are associated with depression. This analysis also suggests that supports for the mother in terms of improving her skills in setting appropriate limits on the child could help create a more positive parent-child relationship. Direct work with the child is also suggested by our analysis, particularly with children who have serious behaviour and hyperactivity problems, since this could help alleviate the burden on the mother while simultaneously setting more consistent and appropriate limits on the child.

12.5 Responding to excessive use of discipline

Our analysis shows that the mother's discipline practices are shaped predominantly by her mental health with subsidiary influences exercised by her relationship with the child, including whether the child is in the abnormal range of the SDQ. This is an important finding from the point of view of services because it suggests that the issue of excessive discipline, possibly fuelled by lack of success in setting appropriate limits on a child who has behaviour problems and hyperactivity, is not due to lack of parenting skills per se but is driven primarily by the mental state of the mother. In other words, interventions to reverse negative thoughts, emotions and behaviours and create more sustained positive experiences are likely, other things being equal, to help the mother become more effective in setting appropriate limits on the child. This suggests, in turn, that parenting programmes for mothers who have particular difficulties in managing their children, should focus predominantly on the needs of the mother rather than the specific parenting skill of limit setting.

12.6 Monitoring the effectiveness of services

The findings of this report may be helpful in reviewing whether existing services for children and families are consistent with the understanding of need and its determinants which the study has revealed. The findings may also serve to highlight the acknowledged importance of regularly evaluating services to see how much progress is being made, by whom, and

²¹ Seligman, 2002; for further information on cognitive therapy, see www.beckinstitute.org

which forms of intervention are most effective and cost effective. In order to answer these questions, an evaluation system is required which continuously monitors the progress of each mother and child using measurement instruments which have been tried and tested and for which there is normative data against which to compare progress. The present study could be a useful beginning in that process since we have used a wide range of instruments, some of which could be part of an ongoing evaluation system.

Clearly, it is always important to measure progress relative to a baseline at the beginning of an intervention. Equally, it is also important to measure progress in terms of the distance which separates service users from the normal experience of other mothers and children in Ireland. Both measures are complementary and help in making a rounded judgement on the effectiveness of a service, while also being mindful of the depth of need that may remain even after an effective service has been delivered. We have found, for example, that the depth of need among mothers using Barnardos' services in Limerick and Thurles, in most of the key domains, has an effect size of around 1.0 even though the most effective programmes for vulnerable parents tend to achieve effect sizes in the range 0.5 to 0.8. This information is important not just for service evaluations but for service providers so that they can set realistic goals about the outcome of their services.

13. Concluding Comment

A significant and encouraging finding of the study is that almost any intervention which cultivates a more positive outlook among mothers, both cognitively and emotionally, would, in addition to its direct mental health benefits, also improve her parenting and the well-being of her children. In this sense, and if one had to choose one form of intervention over all others, the focus should be directed at the mental health of mothers through cultivating positive thoughts, emotions and behaviours. This applies to all forms of intervention, whether prevention, early intervention or treatment²². At the same time, the fact that the

22 Services are sometimes referred to as forms of intervention which vary according to the time at which they intervene in the life of a problem. Some interventions are made before the problem is allowed to emerge (prevention), others occur after the problem has emerged but are made early in order to stop the problem getting worse (early intervention), while others yet take place when the problem is fully developed in order to address the consequences which have evolved (late intervention, sometimes referred to as treatment). These concepts can be illustrated using the example of interventions to promote the well-being of children and their mothers. Prevention could take the form of ensuring that pregnant mothers have good mental health and have healthy lifestyles. Early intervention could involve regular screening of children in terms of developmental milestones, mental health and reading ability while offering support to mothers who may be showing signs of negative affect and

study is based solely on data collected from mothers should not be allowed to occlude consideration of fathers and their well-being, and the role which they can play in promoting positive outcomes for children, as a growing body of research is showing²³. Moreover, while it is generally recognised that support services for families are inadequate, this inadequacy is even more pronounced for fathers, and especially single fathers²⁴. The same consideration also applies to the couple relationship which, although not examined in this study, is also known to have a significant influence on the well-being of adults and children²⁵.

depression, or using excessive discipline on the child. Late intervention would involve addressing emotional, behavioural or intellectual difficulties which are displayed when the child goes to school, serious difficulties in the parent-chid relationship, maternal depression or dependence on sedatives, tranquilisers and anti-depressants. 23 For a review of the evidence on fathers, see Lamb, 2004 24 McKeown, 2001a; 2001b

25 See McLanahan, Donahue and Haskins, 2005; Harold, Pryor, and Reynolds, 2001; McKeown and Sweeney, 2001: Chapter Four

References

Barton, Y., and Fitzgerald, M., 1986. "A Study of Behavioural Deviance in 10 and 11 Year Old Irish Girls in an Urban Area." *Irish journal of Medical Science* March: 80-82.

Bronfenbrenner, U., 1979. *The Ecology of Human Development: Experiments by Nature and Design.* Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Bronfenbrenner, U., 2001. The Bio-ecological Theory of Human Development, in Smelser, NJ., and Baltes, PB., (Editors), *International Encyclopaedia of the Social and Behavioural Sciences* 10: 6963-6970, New York: Elsevier.

Fitzgerald, J., 2007. Addressing Issues of Social Exclusion in Moyross and Other Disadvantaged Areas of Limerick City: Report to the Cabinet Committee on Social Inclusion. Dublin: Institute of Public Administration.

Fitzgerald, M., and Jeffers, A., 1994. "Psycho-social Factors Associated with Psychological Problems in Irish Children and their Mothers." *The Economic and Social Review*, 25 (4): 285-301.

Gerard, AB., 1994. *Parent-Child Relationship Inventory (PCRI): Manual*. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.

Goodman, R., 1997. "The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A Research Note." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 38 (5): 581-586.

Goodman, R., Meltzer, H., and Bailey, V., 1998. "The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A Pilot Study on the Validity of the Self-Report Version." *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 7: 125-130.

Goodman, R., and Scott, S., 1999. "Comparing the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire and the Child Behaviour Checklist: Is Small Beautiful?" *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 27(1): 17-24.

Goodman, R., 1999. "The Extended Version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaires a Guide to Psychiatric Caseness and Consequent Burden." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 40 (5): 791-799.

Goodman, R., Renfrew, D., and Mullick, M., 2000. "Predicting Type of Psychiatric Disorder from Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) in Child Mental Health Clinics in London and Dhaka." *European Child Adolescent Psychology*, 9: 129-134.

Harold, G., Pryor, J., and Reynolds, 2001. *Not in front of the children? How conflict between parents affects children.* London: One Plus One Marriage and Partnership Research.

Lamb, ME., (Editor), 2004. *The Role of the Father in Child Development, Fourth Edition*. New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons.

Lynch, K., Fitzgerald, M., and Kinsella, A., 1987. "The Prevalence of Child Psychiatric Disorders in 10 and 11 Year Old Boys in an Urban School." *Irish Journal of Psychiatry,* Autumn: 20-24.

McCarthy, PW., and O'Boyle, CA., 1986. "Prevalence of Behavioural Maladjustment in a Social Cross-Section of Irish Urban School Children." *Irish Medical Journal*, 79 (5): 125-129.

McKeown, K., 2000. *Supporting Families: A Guide to What Works in Family Support Services for Vulnerable Families.* Dublin: Stationery Office. Available at <u>www.doh.ie</u>

McKeown, K., 2001a. *Fathers and Families: Research and reflection on key questions.* Dublin: Stationery Office. Available at <u>www.doh.ie</u>

McKeown, K., 2001b. "Families and Single Fathers in Ireland." *Administration: Journal of the Institute of Public Administration*, 49 (1) Spring: 3-24.

McKeown, K., Haase, T., and Pratschke, J., 2001. *Springboard: Promoting Family Well-Being through Family Support Services*. Dublin: Stationery Office. Available at <u>www.doh.ie</u>

McKeown, K., and Sweeney, J., 2001. *Family Well-being and Family Policy: Review of research on benefits and costs.* Dublin: Stationery Office. Available at <u>www.doh.ie</u>

McKeown, K., Pratschke, J., and Haase, T., 2003. *Family Well-Being: What makes a difference*? Dublin and Clare: Department of Social & Family Affairs, Family Support Agency and The Céifin Centre. Available <u>www.welfare.ie</u> and <u>www.ceifin.ie</u>

McKeown, K., Haase, T., and Pratschke, J., 2004a. *Making Life Better for Families: Do family support services help? Evaluation of Springboard Project in Loughlinstown, Dublin.* Dublin: East Coast Area Health Board.

McKeown, K., Haase, T., and Pratschke, J., 2004b. *Making Life Better for Families: Do family support services help? Evaluation of Springboard Project in Darndale, Dublin.* Dublin: Northern Area Health Board.

McKeown, K., Haase, T., and Pratschke, J., 2004c. *Distressed Relationships: Does counselling help?* Report to MRCS: Marriage and Relationship Counselling Services. Dublin: MRCS. Available at <u>www.welfare.ie</u>

McKeown, K., 2006. "Estimated Number of Children with Special Education Needs", in *National Council for Special Education, Implementation Report: Plan for the Phased Implementation of the EPSEN Act 2004*, Kells Co Meath: National Council for Special Education: 59-76.

McKeown, K., and Fitzgerald, G., 2006b. *Experiences and Attitudes of Early School Leavers*. Report prepared for EQUAL Youth Project in Ballymun and Mayo. Available at <u>http://www.equal-youth.ie/publications/</u>

McKeown, K., and Fitzgerald, G., 2007. *Strengthening the Well-Being of Young People: Evaluation of a Community-Based Mental Health Project in Dublin.* Report prepared for Mounttown Neighbourhood Youth and Family Project.

McLanahan, S., Donahue, E., and Haskins, R., (Editors), 2005. *Marriage and Child Wellbeing*, 15 (2). Washington and New York: Brookings Institution Press and the Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs, Princeton University.

Martin, M., Carr, A., Carroll, L., and Byrne, S., 2005. *The Clonmel Project: Mental Health Service Needs of Children and Adolescents in the South East of Ireland: A preliminary screening study.* Clonmel: Health Services Executive, Psychology Department.

Meltzer, H., Gatward, R., Goodman, R., and Ford, F., 2000. *Mental Health of Children and Adolescents in Great Britain.* London: The Stationery Office.

Mohan, D., Fitzgerald, M., and Collins, C., 1998. "The Relationship Between Maternal Depression (Antenatal and Pre-school Stage) and Childhood Behavioural Problems." *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 15 (1):10-13.

O'Connor, J., Ruddle, H., and O'Gallagher, M., 1988. *Cherished Equally? Educational and Behavioural Adjustment of Children: A study of schools in the mid-west region*. University of Limerick: Social Research Centre.

O'Brien, E., 2006. *Analysis of Attendance Data at Primary and Post-Primary Levels for 2004/2005.* Report prepared by MORI Ireland on behalf of the National Educational Welfare Board, July, Dublin: National Educational Welfare Board. Available at http://www.newb.ie

O'Rourke, M., and Fitzgerald, M., 1985. "An Epidemiological Study of Behavioural Deviance, Hyperactivity and Physical Abnormalities in a Dublin Primary School Population." *Irish Journal of Psychiatry* (Spring):10-16.

Porteus, MA., 1991. "A Study of Behavioural and Emotional Problems in Irish Primary School Children." *The Irish Journal of Psychology*, 13 (3): 304-315.

Seligman, M., 2002. Authentic Happiness: Using the new positive psychology to realise your potential for lasting fulfilment. New York: The Free Press.

Shonkoff, JP., and Phillips, DA., (Editors), 2000. *From Neurons to Neighbourhoods: The science of early childhood development.* Washington DC: National Academy Press.

Simpson, GA., Bloom, B., Cohen, RA., Blumberg, S., Bourdon, KH., 2005. U.S. Children with *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties: Data from the 2001, 2002, and 2003 national health interview surveys.* Advance data from vital and health statistics; (360), June.

Stone, D., Fitzgerald, M., and Kinsella, T., 1990. "A Study of Behavioural Deviance and Social Difficulties in 11 and 12 Year-Old Dublin School Children." *Irish Journal of Psychiatry,* Spring: 12-14.

Straus, M., Hamby, S, Finkelhor, D., and Runyan, D., 1995. *Identification of Child Abuse with the Parent-Child Conflict Tactics Scales (CTSPC): Development and psychometric data for a national sample of American parents.* Durham, NH: Family Research Laboratory, University of New Hampshire.

Webster-Stratton, C., & Hammond, M. 1998. Conduct Problems and Level of Social Competence in Head Start Children: Prevalence, pervasiveness and associated risk factors. *Clinical Child Psychology and Family Psychology Review*, 1(2): 101-124.